
 

 

 

 

INCOME GENERATION SUB-

COMMITTEE 

 

AGENDA 

 

 Date: Thursday, 11th March, 2021 

 Time: 7.00 pm 

 Venue: 
 

Remote Meeting 

 
 



2 

INCOME GENERATION SUB-COMMITTEE  
 

Information for Members of the Public 
 
Due to the current Covid-19 pandemic Worcester City Council will be holding this meeting in 

accordance with the relevant legislative arrangements for remote meetings of a local authority. For 

more information please refer to: Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 

(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 

2020. 

 

Please note that this is a public meeting, conducting remotely by videoconferencing between invited 

participants and live streamed for general access by audio via the Council’s website. 

 

Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public. You can listen to a live audio stream of the 

meeting via the City Council website www.worcester.gov.uk/councillors-democracy. You have the right 

to inspect electronic copies of Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background 

documents used in the preparation of these reports. Details of the background papers appear at the 

foot of each report. Part II of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 'Exempt Information' for 

which it is anticipated that the public may be excluded from the meeting and neither reports nor 

background papers are open to public inspection. 

 

Members of the public and press are permitted to report on the proceedings. "Reporting" in the context 

of this remote meeting includes making an audio recording of the live streamed audio and providing 

commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the proceedings, 

including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. 

 

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is allowed 

for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter on the 

Agenda. Participation in remote meetings will extend to video and/or audio participation or written 

submission read aloud at the appropriate point in the meeting by the Chairman. Participants need to 

indicate that they wish to take part in a remote meeting by 4.30 p.m. on the last working day before 

the meeting by telephoning or E-Mailing the officer mentioned below. A Democratic Services Officer will 

then contact to advise how to participate in the remote meeting, by invitation. Requests to participate 

received later than this cut-off time may not be accommodated. 

 

If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting of the City Council, he/she will be deemed to 

have given their consent to being recorded and audio being published live to the Council’s website. The 

Chairman of the meeting, can at their discretion, terminate or suspend recording, if in their opinion, 

continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or if they consider that continued 

recording might infringe the rights of any individual, or breach any statutory provision. 

 

If you have any queries about this Agenda, require any details of background papers, or wish to 

discuss the arrangements for public participation please contact Julian Pugh, Democratic Services 

Administrator, Democratic Services, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY  Telephone: 01905 722027 (direct 

line).  E-Mail Address: committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk 

 

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic 

minority languages. Please contact the above-named officer for further information. 

 

 



3 

Income Generation Sub-Committee 
Thursday, 11 March 2021 

 

Members of the Committee:- 

 

Chairman: Councillor Jabba Riaz (L) 
Vice-Chairman: Councillor Steve Mackay (C) 

 
Councillor Patricia Agar (LCo) 

Councillor Marc Bayliss (C) 
 

Councillor Chris Mitchell (C) 

 

 

  

C= Conservative G = Green L = Labour LCo = Labour and Co-operative  
LD = Liberal Democrat 

 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1 
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC) 

 

1. Appointment of Substitutes  

 To receive details of any Members appointed to attend the meeting instead of a 
Member of the Sub-Committee. 

 

2. Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of interest. 

 

3. Public Participation  

 Up to a total of fifteen minutes can be allowed, each speaker being allocated a 

maximum of five minutes, for members of the public to present a petition, ask a 
question or comment on any matter on the Agenda or within the remit of the Sub-
Committee. 

 

4. Minutes  

Page(s): 1 - 2 

 Of the meeting held on 28th January 2021 to be approved and signed. 
 

5. Proposed Committee Performance Scorecard for 2021/22  

Page(s): 3 - 6 

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Joanna Payne, Corporate Policy and Strategy Officer 

Tel: 01905 722407 

 That the Sub-Committee consider the proposed content of the Income Generation 

Performance Scorecard for 2021/22. 
 
 

 
 

 
 



4 

6. Local Authority Development Company  

Page(s): 7 - 14 

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Shane Flynn, Corporate Director, Finance and Resources 
Tel: 01905 722536 

 That the Sub-Committee: 
 
1. Approves the engagement of specialist strategic housing advice to work with 

the Council in order to identify the most effective role the Council can play in 
order to respond to local development needs; and 

 
2. Approves the allocation of up to £10,000 from the Income Generation Fund in 

order to fund this work. 

 

7. Real Estate Investment Trusts (REIT)  

Page(s): 15 - 22 

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Mark Baldwin, Head of Finance 

Tel: 01905 722007 

 That the Sub-Committee note the proposal to extend the Council’s investment 
instruments to include real estate investment trusts. 

 

8. Any Other Business  

 Which in the opinion of the Chairman is of sufficient urgency as to warrant 

consideration. 
 



INCOME GENERATION SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
28th January 2021 

 
Present:  
 

Councillor Jabba Riaz in the Chair 

 Councillors Agar, Bayliss, Mackay (Vice-
Chairman) and Mitchell 

 
Officers: Mark Baldwin, Head of Finance 

Shane Flynn, Corporate Director – Finance 

and Resources 
 

20 Appointment of Substitutes  
 
None. 

 
21 Declarations of Interest  

 
None. 
 

22 Public Participation  
 

None. 
 

23 Minutes  

 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 5th November 2020 

be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

24 Proposed Fees and Charges 2021/22  

 
The Committee reviewed the proposed schedule of Fees and Charges for 2021/22. 

The Head of Finance presented the report and summarised the main points. 
 
The review had been carried out with an assumption that inflation is at 1%. Some 

Fees and Charges were proposed to increase by an average of 1% and, in some 
specific cases, individual fees by a greater amount. A number of Fees and Charges 

had been maintained at the same level as 2020/21. 
 

Building Control fees have been increased by 3% by the shared service to cover 
the pay increase and other additional increased costs. These fees were 
commercially sensitive and were detailed in the exempt Appendix to the report. 

 
It was noted that Trade Waste charges were outstanding pending the publication 

of the new cost of waste disposal. It was anticipated that this would be available 
for the report to Policy and Resources Committee in February. 
 

Officers responded to questions on detailed aspects of the report.  
 

RESOLVED: That the Committee note the proposed schedule of Fees and 
Charges for 2021/22 and recommend approval to the Policy and 
Resources Committee on 9 February 2021 for ultimate approval by Full 

Council on 23 February 2021. 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



 28th January 2021 2 

 
 

25 Quarter 3 Performance Report for 2020/21  

 
The Sub-Committee received a report on Quarter 2 performance for the Income 

Generation. The Corporate Director – Finance and Resources presented the report 
and highlighted a number of key issues including the overall picture and the 
position on specific projects. In summary, the income strategy continued to be 

affected by disruption due to the Covid-19 pandemic and the wider economic 
impact. The reductions in car parking, bereavement services and neighbourhood 

income were highlighted in particular. The overall picture and future projections 
will be reflected in the Budget report to Policy and Resources Committee in 
February. 

 
The Income Strategy will be reviewed alongside the Commercial Strategy in 

2021/22. 
 
In response to a question about the potential for identifying new initiatives for 

income generation, the Corporate Director highlighted two potential strands: 
firstly schemes that support the delivery of environmental agenda, as government 

grants will be available for projects such as solar panels and electric vehicles. 
Secondly, there may be opportunities for regeneration through the acquisition of 
properties for the delivery of social housing. The process for generating new ideas 

will be addressed in the revised Income Strategy.  
 

Members concluded by thanking Officers for their work in achieving the current 
position in such challenging circumstances.  

 
RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee note the Council’s Quarter 3 
performance for 2020/21. 

 
26 Any Other Business  

 
None. 
 

27 Item Involving the Disclosure of Exempt Information  
 

RESOLVED: That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 

disclosure of information as defined in Schedule 12A of the said Act. 
 

28 Fees and Charges 2021/22  
 
The Sub-Committee recommended the proposed Fees and Charges for Building 

Control 2021/22 for approval.  
 

 
Duration of the meeting: 7.00p.m. – 7.40p.m. 
 

 
 

Chair at the meeting on 
11th March 2021 

Page 2



 

 

 
 

Report to: Income Generation Sub-Committee, 11th March 2021 
 

Report of: Head of Finance 
 

 
Subject: PROPOSED COMMITTEE PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR 2021/22 

 
1. Recommendation 
 

1.1 That the Sub-Committee consider the proposed content of the Income 
Generation Performance Scorecard for 2021/22. 

 
2. Background 

 
2.1 The City Council’s Performance Scorecards provide a one page overview of priority 

activities and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for each committee. These are 

supported by more detailed reports providing brief narrative updates for projects and 
activities and a visual representation of PIs in the form of run graphs or charts as 

applicable.  These are reported to each Committee on a quarterly basis.  

2.2 The content of the Performance Scorecards for the Income Generation Committee 
has been reviewed by the senior management team and committee chair and vice 

chair as part of the Council’s service planning processes for 2021/22 to ensure that it 
remains relevant and continue to reflect ‘what matters most’ under the functions of 

the committee.  
 

2.3 The current key projects and activities and performance indicators (PIs) have been 

refreshed, taking account of the completion of current projects and the 
commencement of new activities. 

 
2.4 Proposed targets have been developed based on a principle of performance 

improvement where this is realistic. 

 
3. Information  

 
3.1 The proposed content of the Income Generation Committee Performance Scorecard 

for 2021/22 is attached as Appendix 1 which includes details of 2020/21 scorecard 

content which will be removed. 

 

Ward(s):   All 
Contact Officer:   Jo Payne, Corporate Policy & Strategy Officer,   
   01905 722407,  

   Email: Joanna.payne@worcester.gov.uk  
Background Papers: None 

Page 3 Agenda Item 5

mailto:Joanna.payne@worcester.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Appendix 1 

Income Generation Committee  
Proposed Scorecard Content 2021/22    
 

Projects and Activities 

Commercial Strategy delivery    

Income Strategy delivery  

Sports facilities development   

2020/2021 Projects and Activities Removed Reason 

Guildhall Marketing and promotion Completed 

Riverside Park Improvements to maintain and 
enhance Green Flag status 

Now part of Towns Fund project 

New Projects and for 2021/2022 

Housing Development Company – Feasibility assessment 

 

 
Key PIs 20/21 

Target 
20/21 

Forecast 
21/22 
Target 

Target Rationale 

Riverside - project 
related income 

£10,000   £10,000 £10,000  In line with current run-
rate.  

Guildhall - project 

related income  

£90,000 £4,000    

£95,000 

Assumes strong recovery 

post Covid with 75% 
compensation scheme for 

Q1.  

Trade Waste 
collection - project 

related income  

£800,000  £461,000 £836,00
0   

Same budget as 20/21 
plus 1% inflation and new 

accounts. Assumes no 
Covid effect but Q1 75% 
compensation scheme in 

place. 

Garden Waste 
collection - project 

related income  

£469,000   469,000 £491,00
0 

Continued growth helped 
by new DD option and £5 

discount.  

Property Development 

Fund - project related 
income (net of MRP) 

£902,800   £866,800  £902,80
0  

Budget unchanged. Rent 
review outstanding but 

assumes settled as 
originally forecast with no 
reduction due to Covid. 

Car Parks - income - 
key revenue streams  

£3,338,000 £1,481,00

0  

£3,338,

000  

Budget unchanged. £600k 

contingency held in 21/22 
budget and 75% 

compensation scheme for 
Q1. 

Page 5 Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1

https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498772/fs-pi-16_guildhall-project-related-income
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498772/fs-pi-16_guildhall-project-related-income
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498773/fs-pi-17_trade-waste-collection-project-related-income
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498773/fs-pi-17_trade-waste-collection-project-related-income
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498773/fs-pi-17_trade-waste-collection-project-related-income
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498774/fs-pi-18_garden-waste-collection-project-related-income
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498774/fs-pi-18_garden-waste-collection-project-related-income
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498774/fs-pi-18_garden-waste-collection-project-related-income
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498775/fs-pi-19_property-investment-fund-project-related-income
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498775/fs-pi-19_property-investment-fund-project-related-income
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498776/fs-pi-20_car-parks-income-key-revenue-streams
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498776/fs-pi-20_car-parks-income-key-revenue-streams


2 

Key PIs 20/21 
Target 

20/21 
Forecast 

21/22 
Target 

Target Rationale 

Bereavement - 
income - key revenue 
streams  

£1,720,000 £1,540,00

0 

£1,590,

250  

Reduced budget to be in 

line with run-rate plus 1% 
inflation and growth from 

new website and focus on 
memorial sales e.g. new 

memorial tree. 

Development 

Management - income 
- key revenue 
streams  

£705,000 £586,000 £705,00
0  

Budget unchanged. 
Income is unpredictable 
with little inflation effect 

as most fees are 
statutory. 

Neighbourhood - 
income - key revenue 

streams  

£350,000 £255,000  181,250 Assumes end of County 

jetter contract and 
repricing of skip delivery 
service for County.  

2020/21 KPIs Removed Reason 

Property Rate of return Not required 

 

Page 6

https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498777/fs-pi-21_bereavement-income-key-revenue-streams
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498777/fs-pi-21_bereavement-income-key-revenue-streams
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498777/fs-pi-21_bereavement-income-key-revenue-streams
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498778/fs-pi-22_development-management-income-key-revenue-streams
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498778/fs-pi-22_development-management-income-key-revenue-streams
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498778/fs-pi-22_development-management-income-key-revenue-streams
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498778/fs-pi-22_development-management-income-key-revenue-streams
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498779/fs-pi-23_neighbourhood-income-key-revenue-streams
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498779/fs-pi-23_neighbourhood-income-key-revenue-streams
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1498779/fs-pi-23_neighbourhood-income-key-revenue-streams


 
 
Report to: Income Generation Sub-Committee, 11th March 2021 

 
Report of: Corporate Director, Finance and Resources  

 

 
Subject: LOCAL AUTHORITY DEVELOPMENT COMPANY 
 

1. Recommendations 
 

That the Sub-Committee: 
 
1.1 Approves the engagement of specialist strategic housing advice to work 

with the Council in order to identify the most effective role the Council can 
play in order to respond to local development needs; and 

 
1.2 Approves the allocation of up to £10,000 from the Income Generation Fund 

in order to fund this work. 

 
2. Background 

 
2.1 At its meeting of 27 January 2021 the Communities Committee approved a proposal 

to  engage specialist housing advice to undertake a piece of work to help the Council 

identify how it can best intervene in the provision of social and affordable housing 
within Worcester based on housing need. 

 
2.2 The report to the Committee focused primarily on social and affordable housing and 

set out proposals for work to be undertaken, as follows: 

 
 To update and validate the current data on unmet need across particular social 

and affordable housing types and client groups 
 

 To explore whether any Council landholdings would lend themselves to housing 

 
 To explore how the Council could secure new development sites or work with 

partners in joint venture delivery arrangements 
 

 To review best practice use of planning policy and other statutory powers to 
increase supply 
 

 To compare and contrast different local authority approaches to intervention and 
delivery and related financial and risk implications. 

 
2.3 Aligned to this work, and in particular strand 3 and 5, is the option to explore how 

the Council can support the development of private sector housing and properties to 

let at market rents. Such developments can also form part of wider mixed-use sites, 
such as a combination of housing and retail assets. This report proposes that the two 

options are explored simultaneously to identify the potential for an integrated 
approach to developments which include both private and social/affordable housing.    
 

Page 7 Agenda Item 6



2.4 In addressing housing need the report to the Communities Committee focused on 

the following types of tenure: 

(i) Social housing – which is owned by local councils or registered housing 
providers for which guideline target rents are determined through national 
rent regime, more affordable than private renting, and provides a more secure 

& long-term tenancy. 

(ii) Affordable housing - Affordable housing is social rented, affordable rented 

and intermediate housing, provided to eligible households whose needs are 
not met by the market.  Affordable rent is no more than 80% of the local 

market rent (inc. service charges). 

(iii) Intermediate housing – refers to homes for sale or rent, provided at a cost 

above social rent but below market levels subject to affordable housing 
definition. 

 
2.5 The Council has contributed to the development of these types of properties via 

three main mechanisms, as indicated below. However, in many cases, particularly in 
respect of the third of these, affordable housing has been a component of a market-
led scheme which has been a mixture of market-level and affordable housing: 

Windfall sites Sites which have been identified on the open market 

and developed by Registered Providers or developers, 
including former Council land assets transferred to 

Worcester Community Housing such as garage sites.  

Via public sector land 
owned by both the 

City and County 
Council 

City Council land is identified via discussions between 
housing, planning and property and subsequently 

declared surplus.  The County land is evaluated via a 
policy to assess its suitability for affordable housing 

development. 

Section 106 planning 

contributions on 
larger developments 

Large market housing sites across the city subject to 

affordable housing requirements as identified in the 
SWDP and affordable housing SPD Examples of those 
developed across the city include Worcester Porcelain, 

DEFRA Site, Gregory’s Bank and the former Ronkswood 
Hospital site. 

 
2.6 In assessing how the Council can most effectively support housing development, 

therefore, it needs to consider the best vehicle for housing delivery, which could 
include a Development Company established to operate on a commercial basis but 

with objectives to deliver mixed tenure developments to suit the Council’s dual 
objectives of increasing social housing and securing a return on its investments. 
 

3. Challenges and opportunities 
 

3.1 A major challenge to meeting housing need in the city is the lack of sites of a 
suitable size to be viable for new housing delivery. This is because of the urban 
nature of the city and tight boundaries of the council area. Many sites are brownfield 

land and are either small or expensive to develop and may have site contamination 
issues or in parts of the city, be exposed to risk of flooding and are either not 

possible to develop or require costly alleviation measures. In some cases, the sites 

Page 8



have not been economically viable, or developers have provided commuted sums for 

offsite provision.  
 

3.2 As a result of the lack of suitable sites in the city for housing development to meet 
needs, the South Worcestershire Development Plan has proposed urban extensions 

in Malvern Hills and Wychavon. The Councils have worked in partnership to ensure 
that the sites which come forward meet Worcester’s needs, and have signed a 
Housing Accord to embed key development principles. A challenge is that these sites 

have taken years to come forward whilst demand has continued to increase.  
 

3.3 In addition to relationships with registered providers, the Council could strengthen its 

networks with local land agents, landowners, and developers to have a better 
perspective on available sites and pipeline activity. Due to property values and 
demand for land, the Council faces financial challenges if bidding for market 

opportunities or making effective use of commuted sums for offsite provision.  
 

3.4 The Council has progressed a range of initiatives to try and create more 

accommodation options. It has set up a social lettings agency to work with private 
landlords to make affordable accommodation available and has recently extended 

this to include formal leasing arrangements. It has developed a strategy to bring 
empty homes back to use.  At present, many of these initiatives are new and 
mobilising, have a small scale or are dependent on securing funding to operate.  

Therefore, they have met a small proportion of the housing needs which exist. 
 

3.5 The Council has supported a local registered provider Worcester Municipal Charities 

who have been successful in creating accommodation above retail premises and 
redundant commercial buildings into affordable housing for single people and 

couples. This programme has been successful with over 60 units in management and 
is providing a viable housing option and could be easily expanded.  
 

3.6 The Council is also aiming to reduce the use of B&B accommodation for homeless 
families and to provide its own temporary accommodation. To date, 12 units are in 
management, 8 in a shared house and 4 x 3 bed homes leased from Platform 

Housing Group. This project will give higher quality accommodation to those tenants 
and the Council will realise a significant cost saving and reduction of subsidy loss.  It 

is planned to develop further accommodation, but a challenge is availability of land 
and property and to prepare a costed business case to bid for funding.  
 

3.7 Where the Council undertakes direct intervention in the local housing market, as 

described above, this demands significant resources and is subject to pre-determined 
governance process which may, if not exercised flexibly, result in opportunities being 

missed. By establishing a wholly-owned arms-length company it may be possible to 
create both a longer term strategy and a more fleet-of-foot approach so that 
opportunities can be taken as they arise where this fit with the Council’s aims. The 

current approach is necessarily reactive. This can lead to the creation of a mixed 
portfolio of housing acquisitions which are not effectively aligned to objectives, are 

difficult to manage and do not represent value for money.    
 

4. Local Authority Development Companies 
 

4.1 Under the Local Government Act 2003, s95, local authorities can set up companies 
that can make a profit in any area of their competencies. Under the Localism Act 

2011, s1-11, powers for local authorities to set up companies have been extended 
under the General Power of Competence. 

Page 9



 

4.2 Local authorities have taken advantage of this legislation to set up Development 
Companies as a means of increasing housing supply and regenerating sites while 

making a return on the funds invested. Often the funds are in the form of PWLB 
loans which are extended to the Development Company which pays a premium in 

return to cover the Council’s borrowing costs and deliver an income stream. 
 

4.3 A report by the Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI) published in December 2017 

found that over 125 local authorities had set up companies that are able to deliver 
housing1. Research by the Municipal Journal suggest that there are now over 170 

Development Companies in existence2, while a follow-up paper by RTPI suggested 
that 78% of local authorities had established such a company by the end of 2019.3 
 

4.4 Alternative models also exist, such as direct provision through a Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA), joint ventures with developers and social housing providers and 

partnerships of various types. The above research also clearly showed that Councils 
have a wide variety of reasons for entering into the housing market and adopt 
different models for delivering their aims. It will be an important part of the study 

commissioned by the Communities Committee to establish the Council’s objectives in 
order to understand the best delivery vehicle to adopt.   

 
4.5 In 2017 the Smith Institute looked into the reasons why local authorities have 

established Local Housing Companies (LHCs) and presented the following results4: 

 Our findings suggest that LHCs offer councils a “triple dividend” in the form of 

much needed extra housing, a greater stewardship role in place-shaping and a 
financial return to the council. 

 There are now probably as many as 150 LHCs in England, most formed in the 
past few years. On the current trend, this could increase to 200 by 2020 – 

covering just over half of all councils in England. 
 LHCs have been established by all kinds of councils, across the size spectrum, 

including, in some cases, with participation by counties. The largest 
concentrations are in London and the South East. 

 Most LHCs have modest ambitions to build (averaging around 50 units a year), 
although there are larger housing companies in urban areas with major build 

programmes. 
 Collectively LHCs could increase completions over time from 2,000 homes a 

year to 10,000-15,000 homes each year by 2022, with perhaps a quarter of 
the total in London. 

 We estimate that around 30%-40% of new LHC homes are likely to be 

‘affordable’, with a minority at the equivalent of social rented levels. 
 Councils are attracted to LHCs because they want more control and influence, 

and greater freedoms and flexibilities (especially over rents, borrowing and the 
Right to Buy). 

 LHCs can generate income and cross-subsidise new private affordable and 
sub-market housing at social rents 

                                                           
1
 https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/1891/localauthoritydirectprovisionofhousing2017.pdf 

2
 https://www.themj.co.uk/Are-LA-housing-companies-the-way-forward/213900 

3
 https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/2043/local-authority-direct-delivery-of-housing-ii-continuation-research-full-report.pdf 

4
 Delivering the renaissance in council-built homes: the rise of local housing companies | Smith Institute (smith-

institute.org.uk) 

Page 10

https://www.smith-institute.org.uk/book/delivering-renaissance-council-built-homes-rise-local-housing-companies/
https://www.smith-institute.org.uk/book/delivering-renaissance-council-built-homes-rise-local-housing-companies/


4.6 As to whether Development Companies are effective, there is limited research to 

date and, as indicated above, this depends to a considerable extent on the objectives 
set for the company. A paper on Community-Led Housing by the housing sector 

innovation agency HACT argues that a local authority development company can 
work effectively to deliver community-led housing if established with this as one of 

its key objectives5. It can be a major driver for housing expansion in its area of 
operation. Palace Green Homes, set up in 2016 by East Cambridgeshire District 
Council and responsible for a number of small local housing developments with user 

engagement, is cited as a good example. 
 

4.7 Further typical examples are shown in the following box: 

 

The Great Yarmouth Development Company Limited. This is a joint venture between 

Norfolk County Council and Great Yarmouth Borough Council. The company built 
Royal Britannia Terrace, a development of nineteen houses in Great Yarmouth, three 

of which are social homes. Money invested in the project by The Great Yarmouth 
Development Company was repaid through house sales and reinvested in a fresh 
regeneration project. 

 
Broxbourne Borough Council established Badger BC as a wholly owned company to 

identify small scale sites for development, including purchasing existing properties to 
make available for letting. In 2017 and 2018, 5 three-bedroomed houses were 
developed and became available for rent while a further 4 two-bedroomed flats were 

constructed. The company has subsequently sought planning permission for a 
development of 24 two bedroomed flats on the site of Wolsey Hall which will be 

available for market rent. 

 

4.8 There have also been some well-publicised failures. In particular, Croydon Borough 
Council’s wholly-owned housing company Brick by Brick has received much press 
attention for a failure to deliver new homes despite considerable loan capital 

provided by the Council. A number of other Councils are reviewing their 
arrangements, including Nottingham City Homes following a wider report on the 

Council’s use of wholly owned companies, and Haringey Borough Council which is 
considering bringing its Arms-Length Management Organisations (ALMO) back in 
house. 

 

4.9 In determining whether a Development Company would be a suitable vehicle, the 
Council will need to consider a range of matters, not only in relation to whether this 

would be an effective delivery mechanism but also in regard to the type of structure 
to be used and the governance arrangements. CLH identifies the following 

preliminary considerations: 

 the background law which will influence the Council’s decision making, including:  

o the Council’s powers and duties – in relation to both setting up and 
participating in the company – and the wider local government law that the 

Council will need to act within; 
o the different legal structures that are available, how they differ and the impact 

each would have on the governance arrangements and the relationship 
between the Council and the company; 

o exactly how procurement rules will apply and how to mitigate risk where there 

is uncertainty in any respect; 

                                                           
5
 https://clhtoolkit.org/planning/delivering-clh-through-local-authority-development-companies 

Page 11



o the flow of money and the transfer of land which requires analysis for each 

initiative from a State Aid perspective; 
o regulatory compliance, including compliance with any requirements of MHCLG 

and Homes England and the Regulator of Social Housing; 
o the tax implications of different structural models: particularly Stamp Duty 

Land Tax (SDLT), VAT and Corporation Tax; planning and environmental law 
matters; 

o any consultation the council would need to undertake before proceeding; 

 the funding and finance arrangements to be put in place; 

 
 the governance of the company:  

o the relationship the Council will have with the company and how it will 
manage its affairs.  Although the legal mechanics of forming a company are 
relatively straightforward, it is important to ensure a good understanding of 

the implications of doing so.  Duties of directors to the company and 
addressing how the council wear different “hats” are pertinent; 

o the council’s shareholder role and the mechanics of a share company (general 
meetings and shareholder decisions - reserved matters - and the mechanics of 
decision making); 

o governance and operational arrangements – the Board of Directors, any chair, 
how they are appointed and removed, their decision making, and a description 

of Directors’ duties; 
o future-proofing the company or group structure – how future relationships are 

managed 

4.10 Consideration of these matters requires technical expertise which is not currently 
available with the Council. Therefore it is recommended that a specialist resource be 
identified as part of the wider consideration of the Council’s housing development 

objectives set out in the Communities Committee report and to supplement the 
funding agreed by the Communities Committee with up to £10,000 drawn from the 

Income Generation Fund. 
 

5. Preferred Option  

 
5.1 Under the Communities Committee report, the Council is looking to appoint a 

housing specialist adviser/consultancy to undertake a wide ranging and thorough 
review to identify how the provision of housing in Worcester can be increased to 
meet increasing needs. This report proposes that the remit of the review be 

extended to include consideration of a Development Company as a suitable vehicle 
to further the Council’s aims. 

6. Alternative Options Considered 
 

6.1 To not include this additional research in the scope of the project. The Council will 

receive a full report on the options available to deliver the aims set out in the 
Community Committee report. However, the Council would benefit from an 

understanding of whether Development Companies have proved successful vehicle in 
helping to deliver the type, range and level of housing desired and, if so, whether 
establishing one would be a suitable approach for this Council. 

 
 

 
 

Page 12



7. Implications 

 
7.1    Financial and Budgetary Implications 

 
 The Communities Committee has approved spend of up to £30,000 from the 

Affordable Housing Reserve. This report seeks the allocation of up £10,000 from the 
Income Generation Reserve to supplement the project budget. There is an expected 
balance of £203,299 on the fund at 31 March 2021, of which £70,999 is 

uncommitted. 
 

7.2 Legal and Governance Implications 
 
The report on Council Led Housing to the Communities Committee of 27 January 

2021 delegated authority to the Corporate Director (Homes and Communities) in 
consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair the Committee to agree a specification 

document as part of procuring the required and procuring and appointing a suitable 
contractor to deliver this work.  
 

The recommendations in this report, if approved, will need to be included in the 
scope of the review in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of Communities 

Committee.  
 
The output of the proposed review will be a report to Communities Committee. The 

Income Generation Sub-committee will contribute its observations to the 
Communities Committee when it considers the report. Arrangements for this process 

will be confirmed. 
 

7.3     Risk Implications 

 
The specific risks in relation to Housing Development Companies will be considered 

as part of the review. 
 
There is a risk that the work will not provide the Council with the required matters 

for consideration to develop the appropriate policy. The project scope will ensure 
that this risk is mitigated. 

  
7.4    Corporate/Policy Implications 

 
The Council’s ‘City Plan’ under the ‘Stronger and Connected Communities’ theme, 
commits to having a wide mixture of good quality housing provision to suit the full 

range of needs. 
 

Under the Commercial Strategy the Council is seeking to develop a range of 
investment in properties that will generate an income stream. Housing properties 
have the potential to do this through an appropriate delivery vehicle while enabling 

the delivery of affordable housing through a mixed tenure approach.  
 

7.5 Equality Implications 
 

There are no direct implications arising from this report. Future reports on the type 

and tenure of any housing development proposed will include consideration of 
equalities issues.  

 
 
 

Page 13



7.6 Human Resources Implications 

 
         There are no human resource implications associated with this report.   

 
7.7 Health and Safety Implications 

 
There are no health & safety implications associated with this report. 

 

7.8 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications 

This work approved by the Communities Committee will directly contribute to the 

development of a Homes and Communities Strategy for the Council underpinning 
which will be stronger communities, better places to live and access and choice to 

high quality housing.    
 

The additional element proposed in this report will further address the opportunities 
that the Council will have to provide suitable housing of all types within the city and 
its extended planning area.  

 
The report itself does not have any social, environmental and economic implications 

as a project budget has been identified and a specification will be agreed. Any likely 
implications will be highlighted in the report and mitigation measures will be 
proposed. 

 
 

 
Ward(s):   All Wards  
Contact Officer: Shane Flynn – Tel: 01905 722536, Email 

shane.flynn@worcester.gov.uk  
Background Papers: Understanding Our Options for Council-led Housing 

Development, report to Communities Committee 27 
January 2021  

 

Page 14

mailto:shane.flynn@worcester.gov.uk


 

 
 

Report to: Income Generation Sub-Committee, 11th March 2021 
 

Report of: Head of Finance 
 

 
Subject: REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUSTS (REIT) 

 
1. Recommendation 

 

1.1 That the Sub-Committee note the proposal to extend the Council’s 
investment instruments to include real estate investment trusts. 

 
2. Background 

 
2.1 At its meeting of 16 January 2018 the Committee approved a proposal for the 

Council to invest in a diversified property fund as part of a wider strategy to diversify 

its investment portfolio and secure low-risk property investments. In April 2018 the 
Council invested £3m in the CCLA Property Fund, which holds a range of commercial 

property. The annual yield in 2020/21 has been 3.8%, compared to the interest 
received on cash investments of 0.07%. 

2.2 As part of the 2021/22 budget settlement HM Treasury announced that it intends to 

prevent local authorities from using PWLB loans to invest directly in properties purely 
for the purposes of generating income. The Council therefore needs to continue to 

identify forms of investment that will provide income streams in excess of the rates 
achievable through cash investments. 

3. Information  

 
3.1 A real estate investment trust (REIT) is a special type of company in the UK that 

invests in real estate – buying property and letting it out to tenants. The type of 
property can be commercial or residential. As well as investing directly in bricks and 
mortar, they can also invest through partnerships and joint ventures, and even in 

other REITs.  

3.2 REITs vary in size. There are the well-known ‘blue chip’ companies like British Land, 

who are generalists, or more specialised companies such as Primary Healthcare 
Properties who invest in doctor’s surgeries. Investments in a REIT are made by 
buying its shares through the stock market, the London Stock Exchange. Although 

they were first introduced for retail investors, they are also available to institutional 
investors, both UK and overseas. 

3.3 There are two benefits to investors, which are inextricably linked. REITs (1) provide 
access to property investment without the need to identify and acquire suitable 
properties and (2) reduce investment costs. 

3.4 A REIT can be thought of as a fund, similar to the CCLA fund, pooling its 
shareholder’s capital and investing it on their behalf. Property acquisition requires 

specific skills and is time-consuming. By doing it through a fund, the investor has 

Page 15 Agenda Item 7



 

access to professional expertise, whose job it is to generate returns for their 
investors. The fund also provides a ready-made diversified property portfolio . The 

fact that the shares are listed on the stock market also makes it easier to access, 
and withdraw from, the property market: shares are more liquid than real estate, 
though how liquid they are will depend on the stock in question. 

3.5 The second benefit is the tax advantages. REIT’s pay no tax on their rental profits 
and no tax on their capital gains. The capital gains exemption is something they 

share with many other UK fund vehicles, but the exemption on income provides an 
additional benefit. This exemption is allowed because REITs are required to pay out 
at least 90% of their rental profits to shareholders. They are effectively a conduit for 

passing on the rent. However, unlike partnerships, capital gains aren’t passed on  to 
investors each time a property is sold – gains are only taxed if and when investors 

sell their shares. As the Council pays neither Income Tax nor Capital Gains Tax, the 
gross benefit generated is fully retained. 

3.4 There also some further conditions that a REIT needs to satisfy. For example, at 
least 75% of the business income and assets must come from renting out property. 
However not all property related activities, such as property development, count as 

property letting. Hence having too much property development could jeopardise the 
REIT’s status. It’s for this reason that some UK property companies have decided not 

to become REITs. 

3.5  There are also stringent rules on the amount of debt a REIT can enter into. This 
controls the level of risk from interest rates that an investor is exposed to but also 

limits the opportunities for investment and growth of the trust. 

3.6  Like the CCLA, any investment in a REIT should be seen as a long-term commitment 

and certainly for at least 5 years. 

3.6 As an example, Fundamentum Social Housing REIT plc invest in a diversified 
portfolio of social housing properties across the United Kingdom, with a focus on 

Supported Housing. An extract from their recent factsheet, which is included as 
Appendix 1, is as follows:  

 Despite logistical challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic, our housing partners 
have continued to house vulnerable adults during this time. The assets in the 
portfolio are located across a total of 13 Local Authorities and leased to 6 different 

housing providers. The average lease term across the portfolio is 20 years, with all 
leases subject to annual rent increases linked to CPI. Full rents have been paid to 

date across the portfolio. Over the last quarter, we have made three further property 
acquisitions, located in varying geographical locations from the Midlands to the 
Northwest. The assets have been leased to 3 different providers, who will be 

overseeing the referral process of housing the tenants. 

3.8 This fund was set up in November 2019 and has a current market capitalisation of 

£17m. The dividend paid for the year to December 2020 was 2%. 

4. Preferred Option 
 

4.1 The preferred option is to carry out a review of investment opportunities with a 
range of REIT’s in order to gain the benefits of their tax advantages and also to 

increase the diversification of the Council’s investment portfolio. 

Page 16



 

5. Alternative Option 
 

5.1  The alternative options would be (1) to make no further investments in property 
based funds. Whilst this would avoid any risk for the Council in doing so, it would 
significantly impair the Council’s ability to generate income or (2) to make an 

additional investment in the CCLA property fund. This currently provides a good 
return of circa 4% from a diversified property portfolio. However, the Council’s 

investment would be in only one fund, which is not good practice. 

6. Implications 
 

6.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications 

An investment of say, £2m would provide an annual income of approximately £60k, 

assuming a 3% yield. This compares to the PWLB interest rate on 10 year borrowing 
of 1%. 

6.2 Legal and Governance Implications 

None arising from this report. 

6.3 Risk Implications 

Property based funds represent a means of investing in the property market with a 
higher degree of diversification than by buying individual properties, hence reducing 

the associated risk. REIT’s are often in more specialised in specific sectors than the 
more general CCLA fund, hence the need to review a range of REIT’s and select 
those with the preferred level of risk and return. 

6.4 Corporate/Policy Implications 

The Council’s Treasury Strategy allows for the Council to invest in REIT’s up to a 

maximum of £3m. 

6.5 Equality Implications 

None arising from this report. 

6.6 Human Resources Implications 

None arising from this report. 

6.7 Health and Safety Implications 

None arising from this report. 

6.8 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications 

None arising from this report. 

 

Ward(s):   All 
Contact Officer: Mark Baldwin, email mark.baldwin@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: None   

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Investing in a diversified portfolio of social housing properties 
across the United Kingdom, with a focus on Supported Housing.

Quarterly Factsheet
December 2020

Socially Responsible
Providing high-standard, 
specialist properties which 
provide housing for some of 
society's most vulnerable 
people.

Attractive Returns
Targeting 5% dividend per 
annum paid quarterly

Experienced Advisor
Investment Advisor, with a 
proven track record, sector 
knowledge and relationships.

Diverse Portfolio
Social housing properties 
across the UK with 
long term inflation linked 
leases.

Company Information Key Parties

LEI 21380059ZDZZ53WI2698

ISIN GB00BKP4JH68

Listing TISE

Market Cap

Investment Advisor

Fundamentum Property Advisers Limited

Alternative Investment Fund Manager 

Langham Hall Fund Management LLP

Sponsor

IQESSSL Limited

Legal Advisor

Keystone Law

Tax Advisor

Grant Thornton LLP

Auditor & Reporting Accountant

KPMG

Investment Commentary
Over the last quarter, the Investment Advisor has overseen three further property
acquisitions, located in varying geographical locations from the Midlands to the
Northwest. The assets have been leased to 3 different providers, who will be overseeing
the referral process of housing the tenants. Despite logistical challenges posed by the
COVID- 19 pandemic, our housing partners have continued to house vulnerable adults
during this time. The assets in the portfolio are located across a total of 13 Local
Authorities and leased to 6 different housing providers. The average lease term across
the portfolio is 20 years, with all leases subject to annual rent increases linked to CPI. Full
rents have been paid to date across the portfolio.

Board of Directors

Non-Executive

James Boyd (Chairman)

Andrew Law

Jamie Fergusson

Previous NAV

0.99
NAV as at 31 December 2020

0.98
Declared Dividend

0.50p*
*Declared Dividend for the period to 

31 December 2020. Equates to 2% PA

7th Nov 2019
Listing Date

31st Mar 2021
Financial Year End

12th February 2021
Q4 Record Date

5th March 2021
Q4 Payment Date

Page 19 Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



GREE

GREE

Quarterly Factsheet
December 2020

Contact Information

Email info@fundamentum-socialhousing.com

Phone +44 (0) 20 7074 3581

Address 8th Floor, 1 Fleet Place, London EC4M 7RA

Portfolio Overview

14
Properties

1,082,881
Net Annual Income

17,120,000
Portfolio Value

20 years
Average Lease Term

6
Housing Associations

121
Service Users

Portfolio Examples

Geographic Breakdown

Jerome Chambers, Walsall

5
Midlands

3
Northwest

4
Southwest

2
Northeast

Parkwood Road, Bournemouth

Market Street, Newton-Le-Willows

Farm House, Barnsley Curtis Way, Dorset

Thomas Court, Widnes 

Page 20



Quarterly Factsheet
December 2020

IMPORTANT INFORMATION

This document is being issued by Fundamentum Social Housing REIT (the "Company") to, and is directed only at (A) in the
UK: (i) persons who have professional experience in matters relating to investments and who are investment professionals
within the meaning of Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 (the
"FPO"); or (ii) persons who fall within Article 49(2) of the FPO (including certain high net worth companies, unincorporated
associations or partnerships and the trustees of high value trusts, or other respective directors, officers or employees as
described in Article 49 of the FPO); or (iii) any other persons to whom this document for the purposes of Section 21 of the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2002 can otherwise lawfully be provided without further action (each as a
relevant person); or (B) outside the UK, persons otherwise permitted by the laws of the jurisdiction in which they are resident
to receive them. This document must not be acted or relied upon by persons other than Relevant Persons. In member states
of the European Economic Area other than the United Kingdom, this document is directed only at within
the meaning of Article 2(1)(e) of the Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC as amended, including by EU Directive
2010/73/EU to the extent implemented in the relevant member state), and will be engaged in only with such persons. It is a
condition of you receiving this document that you fall within, and warrant to the Company that you fall within, one of the
foregoing categories of Relevant Persons or are a as defined. The condition of you receiving this
document is that you fall within one of the categories of persons described above and by accepting this document you will
be taken to have warranted, represented and undertaken to the Company that: (a) you fall within one of the categories of
persons described above; (b) you have read, agree to and will comply with the terms of this disclaimer; and (c) you will
conduct your own analyses or other verification of the data set out in this document and will bear the responsibility for all or
any costs incurred in doing so. Readers should note that the contents of this document have not been approved by an
authorised person within the meaning of FSMA. This document is not being sent to, and should not be sent to, investors with
registered addresses in, and is not for release, publication or distribution in or into, the United States, Canada, Australia, the
Republic of South Africa, New Zealand or Japan, and does not constitute an offer to sell, or the solicitation of an offer to buy,
any securities in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful. The details contained herein are for information
purposes only and should not be considered as an offer, investment recommendation, advice, or solicitation, to deal in any
of the investments mentioned herein and this document does not constitute investment research as defined under any
applicable EU or UK law. The Company does not warrant the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the information and
materials contained in this document and expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in such information and
materials. Some of the information in this document may contain projections or other forward looking statements regarding
future events or future financial performance of countries, markets or companies. These statements are only predictions and
actual events or results may differ materially. By their very nature, forward looking statements involve inherent risks and
uncertainties and risks exist that predictions, forecasts and other forward looking statements will not be achieved. Given
these risks, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward looking statements. Readers must make their
own assessment of the relevance, accuracy and adequacy of the information contained in this document and such
independent investigations as they consider necessary or appropriate for the purpose of such assessment. Any opinion or
estimate contained in this document is made on a general basis and is not to be relied on by the reader as advice whether as
to how to construct a portfolio, whether to buy, retain or sell a particular investment or otherwise. No warranty is given and
no liability is accepted for any loss arising, whether directly or indirectly, as a result of the reader or any person or group of
persons acting on any information, opinion or estimate contained in this document. The Company reserves the right to make
changes and corrections to any information in this document at any time, without notice. The information contained in this
document, including any expressions of opinion or forecast, have been obtained from or is based upon sources believed by
the Company to be reliable but is not guaranteed as to the accuracy or Completeness. This document is confidential and may
not be reproduced, redistributed or forwarded, directly or indirectly, to any other person or published, in whole or in part, for
any purpose. Tax treatment depends on the individual circumstances of each investor and may be subject to change in the
future. Professional advice should be obtained before making any investment decision. The value of investments and the
income from them can go down as well as up and investors may get back less than the amount invested. Past performance is
not a reliable indication of future performance.

ADVERTISEMENT

This is an advertisement and not a prospectus for the purposes of EU Directive 2003/71/EC or Part VI of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 . Potential investors should not apply for or buy any shares in the Company except
on the basis of information contained in the prospectus to be published by the Company in connection with the offer of
shares in the Company and which will be available from the Company's registered office when published. The Company has
not made any final decisions as to whether or not to proceed with the transaction.

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Proposed Committee Performance Scorecard for 2021/22
	IG Scorecard 21-22 Appendix

	6 Local Authority Development Company
	7 Real Estate Investment Trusts (REIT)
	Appendix 1 - Fundamentum Social Housing plc


